ASSOCIATION OF YALE ALUMNI BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Association of Yale Alumni By-Laws

Adopted October 1972, as revised through April 2009.

Article I. Assembly
Article II. Board
Article III. Officers
Article IV. Amendments

Article I. Assembly

Section 1. Meetings - General.

The Board of Governors of the Association shall designate the time, place, and date of the regular meetings of the Assembly, which shall be held at least once each year in New Haven. Special meetings of the Assembly may be called at any time by the Chair or by the Board and shall be held at such place and on such time and date as shall be fixed by the person or persons calling the meeting.

Section 2. Meetings - Notice.

Notice of all meetings of the Assembly shall be given by the Executive Director of the Association by notice transmitted to each delegate to the Assembly at least thirty days before any regular or special meeting. Each notice shall state the time, place and date of the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, shall state the purpose or purposes therefor.

Section 3. Meetings - Quorum and Voting.

At all meetings of the Assembly, the presence of one-fourth of the incumbent Assembly delegates shall be sufficient to constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business.

Each delegate shall be entitled to one vote, in person and not by proxy, provided, however, that (i) with the approval of the Board, any delegate (other than an ex officio delegate) who for good cause is unable to attend an Assembly meeting may designate in writing a member of the Association from the same constituency as an alternate, who may attend and vote; and (ii) with the approval of the Board, Assembly delegates may be permitted to vote via a secure electronic system, whether or not they are unable to attend an Assembly meeting in person.

All elections and other questions shall be decided by a plurality of the votes cast, except as otherwise provided by the AYA Constitution or these By-laws.

Section 4. Meetings - Agenda.

The Board Chair, in consultation with the Board, shall set the agenda for any special or regular meeting of the Assembly. Any Assembly delegate may propose an item for the agenda by submitting the item in writing at least twenty days prior to the meeting, addressed to the

Executive Director at the executive offices of the Association. The Board Chair shall exercise reasonable discretion to determine whether a proposed agenda item is relevant to the purposes of the Assembly, as such purposes are defined in the AYA Constitution.

Article II. Board

Section 1. Election and Term.

The eighteen elected members of the Board shall serve three-year terms as provided in the AYA Constitution and shall be elected from its membership by the Assembly in a manner and at a time to be determined by the Board, six of such members to be elected in each year (except as may be otherwise required by Section 4 of this Article II).

The appointed members of the Board shall serve three-year terms as provided in the AYA Constitution and shall be appointed from the membership of the Association in a manner and at a time to be determined by the Board, not more than two of such members to be appointed in each year (except as may be otherwise required by Section 4 of this Article II).

Elected and appointed members of the Board shall take office on July 1. All terms for members shall terminate on June 30th. If the term of an elected or an appointed Board member exceeds that member's term as an Assembly delegate, the member may continue as a member of the Board and as an Assembly delegate until the conclusion of the term on the Board, but the Assembly seat shall be filled in the normal manner at the stated conclusion of the delegate's term, and not before. The term of each ex officio member of the Board shall extend for the time of service in the office on which ex officio membership is based.

Section 2. Eligibility.

No elected or appointed member of the Board shall be eligible to serve for more than one full term except after a lapse of one year, provided that the term of the Chair, the Vice-Chair, and the Executive Officers of the Board shall be governed by Article III of these By-laws. The eligibility of members of the Board elected to fill vacancies shall be governed by Section 4 of this Article of these By-laws.

Section 3. Nomination – Elected Board Members

Nominations for election to the Board shall be made annually by the Board of Governors Nominating Committee of the Association. Other nominations may be made by petition signed by any twenty-five Assembly representatives and filed with the Board of Governors Nominating Committee at least thirty days prior to the date scheduled for distribution of election ballots. Such right of petition shall be set forth in the notice of the meeting for each Assembly. No nominations for election to the Board shall be made from the floor of the Assembly.

Section 4. Nomination – Appointed Board Members

Nominations for appointment to the Board shall be made annually and shall be made by the Board of Governors Appointments Committee of the Board. The Board of Governors Appointments Committee shall be appointed by the Chair and shall include representatives of officers of the University as well as current members of the Board.

Section 5. Vacancies.

Any vacancy in the elected or appointed seats on the Board may be filled by a majority vote of the remaining members of the Board for the remainder of the term of the member as to whom the vacancy exists. At the conclusion of that term, a member of the Board elected to fill a vacancy shall be eligible to be elected to a full term on the Board if nominated and elected pursuant to Sections 1 and 3 of this Article of these By-laws, and also shall be eligible to be appointed to a full term on the Board pursuant to Section 1 of this Article of these By-laws.

If a member of the Board is elected to be Chair, Vice-Chair, or Executive Officer prior to the expiration of that member's term, the Board may consider the seat of such member to be vacant and it may be filled in the manner prescribed herein. The absence of a member of the Board for three consecutive Board meetings shall be deemed a resignation that the Board may accept.

Section 6. Quorum and Conduct of Meetings.

A majority of the number of Board members currently in office, which must include the Chair or the Vice-Chair, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of all business and, except as otherwise provided in these By-laws, a majority of those present shall be sufficient to adopt any resolution of the Board. The Board shall meet at least three times in each year, at such times and places as shall be fixed by the Chair or by the Board, and notice of each such meeting shall be transmitted by the Executive Director to each member not later than the tenth day prior to the meeting.

Article III. Officers

Section 1. Chair, Vice-Chair, Executive Officers-Election.

The Officers of the Board shall consist of a Chair and a Vice-Chair, as provided in the AYA Constitution, and three Executive Officers, as provided in these By-laws.

The Chair, the Vice-Chair, and the Executive Officers shall be elected by a majority of the entire Board, either from its membership or from the delegates to the Assembly, exclusive of ex officiis delegates, at a spring meeting of the Board. Members whose terms as members of the Board or as delegates to the Assembly shall expire during the calendar year of the election shall nonetheless be eligible for election to such offices. The persons so elected shall be designated Chair-Elect, Vice-Chair-Elect, and Executive Officer-Elect and shall be available for consultation from time to time with the Chair and Vice-Chair. They shall take office as Chair, Vice-Chair, and Executive Officer on June 30th.

Election to the offices of Chair and Vice-Chair shall be for two-year terms, and election to the office of Executive Officer shall be for a one-year term, and these officers shall remain during their terms full voting members of the Board and of the Assembly even though the term of one or more extends beyond the original term of election to the Board or to the Assembly. The Chair and Vice-Chair shall be ineligible for re-election to their respective offices, or to the office of Executive Officer, but the Vice-Chair may succeed the Chair. Each Executive Officer shall be eligible for re-election to one additional term, but in no event may serve more than a

total of two years as Executive Officer. Each Executive Officer shall be eligible for election to Chair and Vice-Chair.

Section 2. Officers - Duties.

The Chair shall be chief executive officer of the Association and shall preside at all meetings of the Assembly and of the Board, and at any gathering sponsored by either body. The Chair shall perform such other duties as pertain to the office, including the power to appoint committees and their chairs as authorized by the Constitution or by these By-laws.

In the event of the Chair's absence or inability for any reason to discharge the duties of the office, the Vice-Chair shall temporarily perform those duties. The Vice-Chair shall also perform such other duties as the Chair or the Board may assign.

One Executive Officer shall be responsible for signing the minutes of the meetings of the Board, by agreement between the Executive Officers or, if no agreement can be reached, at the request of the Chair.

Section 3. Executive Director - Duties. The Executive Director shall:

- 1. Act as a non-voting Executive Secretary of the meetings of the Assembly and of the Board, and shall record minutes of those meetings;
- 2. Maintain an office in New Haven, and keep the records of the Assembly and its Committees and of the Board;
- 3. Maintain current records of the names and addresses of the delegates to the Assembly;
- 4. Cause copies of the minutes of the meetings of the Assembly and of the Board to be made available to all interested delegates and to the Alumni Magazine;
- 5. Send timely notices of the regular and special meetings of the Assembly and of the Board as required by these By-laws;
- 6. Act as non-voting Secretary of the Committee for the Nomination of Alumni Fellows and of the Board of Governors Nominating Committee of the Assembly, and shall oversee the selection of the class, regional, and Shared Interest Group Assembly delegates;
- 7. Provide reports and advice to the Board on financial matters,
- 8. Perform such other duties as pertain to the office of Executive Director or as may be assigned by the Chair or the Board.

Article IV. Committees

There shall be such standing committees and ad hoc committees of the Board as may be provided by the AYA Constitution and as the Board may determine from time to time to be in the interests of the Board and the Association.

The Chair and Vice Chair shall serve ex officiis as members of all standing committees established under the authority of this Article IV of these By-laws.

Except as otherwise provided by the AYA Constitution, the Chair of the Board of Governors shall appoint committee chairs and committee members, subject to any action the Board of Governors may take.

Such standing committees may include a Committee for Delegates-At-Large, which shall present annually to the Board of Governors a slate of candidates for appointment as Representatives-At-Large as provided for in Section 8 of Article IV of the AYA Constitution.

Article V. Amendments

These By-laws may be altered, amended or supplemented by vote of a majority of the whole Board, provided that notice thereof shall have been included in the notice of the meeting at which such action is to be considered.